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TO THE HONORABLE COURT: 

Defendant Rio Tinto plc (“Rio Tinto”), through the undersigned counsel, and pursuant to 

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, hereby moves to dismiss the Municipalities 

of Puerto Rico’s (“Plaintiffs’”) Complaint, ECF No. 1, as to Rio Tinto for failure to state a claim. 

Pursuant to L. Civ. R. 7(f), Rio Tinto adopts and incorporates by reference Defendants’ Joint 

Motion to Dismiss, Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction, and 

Rio Tinto’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction, submitted contemporaneously 

herewith. It writes separately in this individual motion and memorandum of law to seek dismissal 

of Counts 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 10 of the Complaint based on arguments unique to Rio Tinto.1  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

As noted in Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss, the gravamen of the Complaint is the 

Plaintiffs’ allegation that Defendants2 “misrepresented the dangers of carbon-based products” 

through a “campaign of climate change denial and obfuscation.” Compl. ¶ 2; Defendants’ Joint 

Motion to Dismiss, p. 6. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants did so to undermine global efforts to 

combat climate change (e.g., the Kyoto Protocol) to maximize the sale of their fossil fuel products 

(coal, in the case of Rio Tinto). Id. ¶¶ 365, 463, 593, 673, 733, 787. Notably, Rio Tinto disclosed 

in 2019 that it had divested all of its global coal assets, making it “unique among the major 

diversified miners in having no fossil fuel production.” Declaration of Jennifer E. King in Support 

of Defendant Rio Tinto plc’s Motion to Dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), dated October 13, 

 
 1 As described in the Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss and Rio Tinto’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal 

Jurisdiction, Rio Tinto plc moves for dismissal of all counts listed in the Complaint. This memorandum of law 

provides further reasons why this Court should dismiss Counts 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 10, but does not waive any 

right, defense, affirmative defense, claim, or objection. 

2  Exxon Mobil Corp.; Shell plc (F.K.A. Royal Dutch Shell plc); Chevron Corp.; BP plc; ConocoPhillips; Motiva 

Enterprises, LLC; Occidental Petroleum (F.K.A. Anadarko Petroleum Corp.); BHP; Arch Resources Inc. (F.K.A. 

Arch Coal Company); Rio Tinto plc; and Peabody Energy.  
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2023 (“King Decl.”) Ex. A (2018 Annual Report, Form 20-F, EX-15.2, Mar. 4, 2019), p. 6.  

The problem for Plaintiffs is that for all of their bluster about Defendants’ alleged collective 

misstatements about the dangers of climate change, the Complaint alleges zero statements made 

by Rio Tinto. That is not an accidental oversight. In fact, for twenty-five years, Rio Tinto has 

publicly acknowledged the need to address climate change and to comply with international 

agreements to do so. Far from taking steps to undermine the Kyoto Protocol—the core of the 

Plaintiffs’ alleged conspiracy, Compl. ¶ 365—Rio Tinto publicly endorsed the Kyoto Protocol, 

stating that it “believes it is sensible to plan and initiate proportional responses [to climate change] 

within the context of the Kyoto Protocol.” King Decl. Ex. B (1997 Annual Report, Companies 

House A3ZHU760, June 22, 1998), p. 33. Since then, Rio Tinto has continued to advocate for 

steps required to reduce climate change, including supporting the Paris Agreement since 2016—

the year it became effective. See King Decl. Ex. C (2015 Annual Report, Form 20-F, EX-15.2, 

Mar. 3, 2016), p. 4.  

Apparently unable to find a misleading statement by Rio Tinto, Plaintiffs attempt to lump 

Rio Tinto together with other Defendants based on acts committed not by Rio Tinto, but by an 

industry association and non-party, the National Mining Association (“NMA”). The law, however, 

is clear—statements of industry groups, such as the NMA, cannot be imputed to their various 

members. Since Plaintiffs have not alleged (and cannot allege) any statement by Rio Tinto seeking 

to mislead Puerto Rican consumers, all claims that are based on the making of such statements fail 

as a matter of law. As a matter of pure logic, Plaintiffs’ claims do not pass muster because they 

are rooted in alleged misleading statements about climate change, but Rio Tinto’s statements in 

public filings support the position Plaintiffs claim is true and accurate. Even without considering 

the truth of Rio Tinto’s statements, Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation claims are undermined by the fact 
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that Rio Tinto’s public statements going back to at least 1997 support climate action. The Court 

should therefore dismiss Counts 1, 2, and 10.  

Plaintiffs’ conspiracy-related claims fail for the same reason, as the Complaint alleges zero 

facts demonstrating that Rio Tinto agreed to further the goals of any conspiracy. Plaintiffs’ 

Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”) and Sherman Act claims all hinge on 

the existence and actions of an organization called the Global Climate Coalition (“GCC”), which 

itself disbanded in 2002. The problem for Plaintiffs again is that, unable to allege that Rio Tinto 

agreed to further the goals of the purported conspiracy, they allege instead that Rio Tinto’s 

membership in the NMA, a separate organization from the GCC, somehow renders Rio Tinto a 

member of a global conspiracy. The law is once again to the contrary: membership and 

participation in an industry group is insufficient to plead that Rio Tinto agreed to further the goals 

of any conspiracy. The Court should therefore dismiss Counts 4-8.  

Overall, the 247-page, 14-count Complaint barely mentions Rio Tinto. Moreover, the few 

allegations that mention Rio Tinto relate in no way to any of the alleged misconduct. Rather, 

Plaintiffs rely on group pleading—referring to the “Coal Defendants” or “members of the 

NMA”—in an effort to satisfy their pleading burden. But the law does not permit guilt-by-

association pleading, and the claims against Rio Tinto must therefore be dismissed.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) requires a court to dismiss a complaint when it 

“fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). To survive 

dismissal, a complaint must contain “sufficient factual matter” to state a claim for relief that is 

“plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)); Lozada v. DeJoy, Civil No. 20-1674 (DRD), 2023 WL 
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2433860, at *6 (D.P.R. Mar. 9, 2023) (citations omitted). To determine whether a complaint states 

a plausible claim, courts must “separate the complaint’s factual allegations (which must be 

accepted as true) from its conclusory legal allegations (which need not be credited)” and determine 

whether the facts alone permit a reasonable inference of liability. Grajales v. Puerto Rico Ports 

Auth., 682 F.3d 40, 45 (1st Cir. 2012) (citations omitted). Allegations sounding in fraud are held 

to an even higher standard and must “state with particularity the circumstances constituting” the 

fraud, Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) (“Rule 9(b)”), including “the time, place and content of the alleged 

[actions] perpetrating that fraud.” Caro-Bonet v. Lotus Mgmt., LLC, 195 F. Supp. 3d 428, 433 

(D.P.R. 2016). Plaintiffs may not satisfy the plausibility standard by using “either the collective 

term ‘Defendants’ or a list of the defendants named individually but with no distinction as to what 

acts are attributable to whom.” Robbins v. Oklahoma ex rel. Dep’t of Hum. Servs., 519 F.3d 1242, 

1250 (10th Cir. 2008); see also Atuahene v. City of Hartford, 10 Fed. Appx. 33, 34 (2d Cir. 2001) 

(“By lumping all the defendants together in each claim and providing no factual basis to distinguish 

their conduct, [Plaintiff’s] complaint failed to satisfy [the] minimum standard [required].”).  

In determining whether plaintiffs have met their burden, the First Circuit has stated that 

courts may look at the facts alleged in the complaint, documents incorporated by reference therein, 

and facts susceptible to judicial notice. Schatz v. Republican State Leadership Comm., 669 F.3d 

50, 55 (1st. Cir. 2012); Haley v. City of Boston, 657 F.3d 39, 46 (1st Cir. 2011). Federal Rule of 

Evidence 201 permits a court to take judicial notice of facts that “can be accurately and readily 

determined from sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.” Fed. R. Evid. 

201(b)(2). Courts have therefore consistently taken “judicial notice of properly-authenticated 

public disclosure documents filed with the SEC.” See, e.g., Oran v. Stafford, 226 F.3d 275, 289 

(3d Cir. 2000); Bryant v. Avado Brands, Inc., 187 F.3d 1271, 1276 (11th Cir. 1999); Hallal v. Vicis 
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Cap. Master Fund LTD, Civil Action No. 12–10166–NMG, 2013 WL 1192384, at *14 (D. Mass. 

Feb. 25, 2013) (considering a Defendant’s submitted SEC Form 4 because it is a matter of public 

record). This Court should do likewise with respect to Exhibits A through L, attached to the 

Declaration of Jennifer E. King, filed contemporaneously herewith. 

BACKGROUND 

A. PLAINTIFFS ALLEGE THAT DEFENDANTS ENGAGED IN A CONSPIRACY, THROUGH THE 

GCC, TO UNDERMINE CLIMATE SCIENCE 

The Complaint’s core allegation is that Defendants banded together through the GCC to 

prevent the creation and implementation of the Kyoto Protocol and other climate initiatives, and 

to undermine climate science in the public domain. See Compl. ¶ 365. Plaintiffs allege that 

Defendants, acting through the GCC and industry organizations, furthered these goals through 

advertising campaigns, public relations activities, and direct lobbying. Id. ¶¶ 365, 733. The 

Complaint admits that the GCC disbanded in 2002, but amorphously alleges that the Defendants 

continued to collaborate “informally” through lobbying groups, funding groups, and public 

relations entities. See id. ¶¶ 439-41. Plaintiffs allege that the 2017 hurricanes in Puerto Rico 

resulted from Defendants’ misrepresentation of the dangers of carbon-based products. Id. ¶¶ 1-2. 

B. PLAINTIFFS CANNOT SHOW RIO TINTO WAS A MEMBER OF THE GCC, SO THEY BASE 

PURPORTED LIABILITY ON RIO TINTO’S AFFILIATION WITH NON-PARTY INDUSTRY 

ASSOCIATIONS 

The 247-page Complaint lacks even a single allegation that Rio Tinto specifically engaged 

in any element of the allegedly wrongful conduct. Furthermore, Plaintiffs make no allegation that 

Rio Tinto was ever a member of the GCC, through which the alleged conspiracy was formed. To 

the contrary, Plaintiffs provide in the Complaint a list of the GCC’s founding members—a list 

which conspicuously does not include Rio Tinto. Compl. ¶ 364. Unable to allege that Rio Tinto 

was a member of the GCC, Plaintiffs instead allege that, at some undefined point, Rio Tinto is or 
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has been involved with a non-party industry association called the National Mining Association, 

id. ¶ 475, and that the NMA was a member of the GCC. Id. ¶ 184. The NMA is “[t]he voice of the 

American mining industry in Washington, D.C.” and represents mining interests across numerous 

issues ranging from safety concerns to public land management. King Decl. Ex. D (Form 6-K, EX-

99.1, Mar. 17, 2005), p. 26; see also King Decl. Ex. E (Form 6-K, EX-99.2, Mar. 19, 2021), p. 5. 

Plaintiffs make only three factual allegations specific to Rio Tinto that aim to connect Rio 

Tinto to the alleged conspiracy, none of which relate to the alleged misconduct. First, Plaintiffs 

allege that Rio Tinto was a member of and “actively participate[d] in committees, boards and 

groups for the National Mining Association.” Compl. ¶ 475. Plaintiffs fail to allege, however, 

which Rio Tinto entity allegedly joined the NMA or when. Nor do (or could) Plaintiffs allege that 

Rio Tinto is aligned with the NMA’s policy positions, that Rio Tinto exercises any influence within 

the NMA, or that Rio Tinto played a role in any NMA decisions regarding the GCC.  

Second, Plaintiffs allege that “[t]he National Mining Associat[ion] and its member[] . . . 

Rio Tinto . . . actively funded the GCC,” and that the NMA acted in the GCC “on behalf of” 

Defendants, including Rio Tinto. Compl. ¶¶ 184, 475. The sole basis provided for this allegation 

is a GCC document from 1998 identifying “the National Mining Association and its members” as 

“potential funding sources,” but not identifying Rio Tinto specifically. Id. ¶ 474 (emphasis added). 

Plaintiffs make only conclusory allegations that such funding was ever provided, let alone that Rio 

Tinto knowingly contributed to, approved of, or had the ability to prevent any such funding from 

the NMA.  

Third, Plaintiffs claim that Rio Tinto was a member of an organization called the 

Information Council on the Environment, which allegedly carried out a campaign in service of the 

Coal Defendants. Id. ¶¶ 374-75. No factual heft was offered in support of this allegation. Once 
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again, this allegation that Rio Tinto was a member of a third-party organization does not indicate 

that Rio Tinto was involved in conduct carried out by the GCC, even assuming GCC conduct had 

any relevance to the Complaint’s theories.  

C. RIO TINTO’S JUDICIALLY NOTICEABLE PUBLIC STATEMENTS, GOING BACK TO AT 

LEAST 1997, ACKNOWLEDGE THE EXISTENCE OF CLIMATE CHANGE, AND SUPPORT 

THE KYOTO PROTOCOL, THE PARIS AGREEMENT, AND CLIMATE REFORM GENERALLY  

It is unsurprising that Plaintiffs have failed to allege that Rio Tinto itself made any 

statements undermining climate science or otherwise participated in the alleged conduct. Plaintiffs 

can plead no more than they have done (and not even that), because Rio Tinto’s annual reports, 

filed with the SEC over twenty-five years, include a wealth of statements acknowledging the 

potential dangers of climate change, disclosing emissions reduction targets, and explaining how 

Rio Tinto has prepared its business for success in a lower-carbon future.  

For example, in 1998, Rio Tinto disclosed to the public in a SEC filing that it recognized 

the existence of climate change and that it supported efforts to combat such climate change through 

the recently adopted Kyoto Protocol—that is, the very same international agreement that Plaintiffs 

allege Rio Tinto conspired against:   

Rio Tinto recognises that increases in greenhouse gases generated by human 

activities may bring about changes to climate. Uncertainty remains over the 

magnitude and timing of such changes and their impacts, but Rio Tinto believes it 

is sensible to plan and initiate proportional responses within the context of the 

Kyoto Protocol of December, 1997. . . Rio Tinto supports research into new 

technologies with associated greenhouse benefits and national programmes to abate 

emissions . . . 

King Decl. Ex. B (1997 Annual Report, Companies House A3ZHU760, June 22, 1998), p. 33. In 

2005, Rio Tinto likewise acknowledged that “emissions of greenhouse gases resulting from human 

activities are contributing to climate change” and “that addressing the challenge of climate change 

will . . . necessitate a change in the way we use energy.” King Decl. Ex. D (Form 6-K, EX-99.1, 

Mar. 17, 2005), p. 19. In 2016, Rio Tinto disclosed that it signed onto the Paris Pledge for Action, 
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a statement of support for the goals of the Paris Agreement and “a further example of [Rio Tinto’s] 

commitment to be part of the climate solution.” King Decl. Ex. C (2015 Annual Report, Form 20-

F, EX-15.2, Mar. 3, 2016), p. 4. This public support was part of the company’s stated efforts to 

“advocate constructively for policies that are environmentally effective, economically efficient 

and equitable.” King Decl. Ex. J (2014 Annual Report, Form 20-F, EX-15.2, Mar. 6, 2015), p. 24. 

Rio Tinto has also publicly disclosed robust internal efforts to address climate change. As 

early as 2001, Rio Tinto submitted that “Greenhouse Gases emitted per unit of production [had 

fallen] by 5.7 per cent on the 1998 level, meeting [its] target of a five per cent reduction.” King 

Decl. Ex. F (2000 Annual Report, Companies House A9QU010C, June 25, 2001), p. 48. In 2005, 

it announced the development of new GHG emissions reduction targets, which were revised in 

2008, 2015, and 2021 to be more ambitious. See King Decl. Ex. D (Form 6-K, EX-99.1, Mar. 17, 

2005), pp. 9, 19, 33; King Decl. Ex. C (2015 Annual Report, Form 20-F, EX-15.2, Mar. 3, 2016), 

p. 4; King Decl. Ex. G (2021 Annual Report, Form 20-F/A, Mar. 30, 2023), p. 15. 

Rio Tinto’s position is good both morally and economically. For almost 15 years, Rio Tinto 

has reported that the decarbonization movement presents a unique business opportunity in light of 

Rio Tinto’s diverse product lines. King Decl. Ex. H (Form 6-K, EX-99.6, May 18, 2009), p. 9. In 

2019, the company announced, “Our products have a role to play in the move to a low-carbon 

economy, and today, we are the only major mining company that does not produce coal.” King 

Decl. Ex. A (2018 Annual Report, Form 20F, EX-15.2, Mar. 4, 2019), p. 13.  

* * * 

In sum, Plaintiffs’ allegations that Rio Tinto was involved in a conspiracy to undermine 

climate science and mislead the public about the dangers of climate change sit against the backdrop 

of dozens of judicially noticeable public statements Rio Tinto has issued, over decades, 
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acknowledging climate change, advocating for binding international agreements, and describing a 

business model that would position Rio Tinto to benefit from decarbonization. See, e.g., King Decl. 

Ex. I (2013 Annual Report, Form 20-F, Mar. 14, 2014), p. 18; King Decl. Ex. J (2014 Annual 

Report, Form 20-F, EX-15.2, Mar. 6, 2015), p. 24; King Decl. Ex. C (2015 Annual Report, Form 

20-F, EX-15.2, Mar. 3, 2016), pp. 4, 26; King Decl. Ex. K (2016 Annual Report, Form 20-F, EX-

15.2, Mar. 2, 2017), p. 28; King Decl. Ex. H (Form 6-K, EX-99.6, May 18, 2009), p. 9. Even 

without considering the truth of these statements, Plaintiffs’ inclusion of Rio Tinto in a purported 

conspiracy to undermine the Kyoto Protocol and mislead the public about climate change is not 

plausible in light of the wealth of judicially noticeable statements made by Rio Tinto to the contrary. 

ARGUMENT 

I. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO PLEAD VIABLE FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION CLAIMS 

AGAINST RIO TINTO (COUNTS 1, 2, AND 10) 

Plaintiffs’ consumer fraud (Count 1), conspiracy to commit consumer fraud (Count 2), and 

failure to warn (Count 10) claims fail as against Rio Tinto. Because Plaintiffs effectively charge 

fraud in these counts (Plaintiffs’ allegations regarding conspiracy to commit fraud and failure to 

warn are directly linked to fraud allegations, see Compl. ¶¶ 708, 790), the First Circuit requires 

Plaintiffs to plead these Counts with the requisite particularity under Rule 9(b). See Mulder v. 

Kohl’s Dep’t Stores, Inc., 865 F.3d 17, 21-22 (1st Cir. 2017) (“Rule 9(b)’s requirements apply to 

both general claims of fraud and also to ‘associated claims,’ . . . ‘where the core allegations 

effectively charge fraud.’”) (citations omitted); Hayduk v. Lanna, 775 F.2d 441, 443 (1st Cir. 1985) 

(requiring Rule 9(b) be met where an alleged conspiracy is “directly linked to the fraud allegations” 

and “fraud lies at the core of the action. . .”) (citations omitted). To plead fraud under Rule 9(b), 

Plaintiffs cannot group together all Defendants, but rather, “must prove that the defendant made a 

fraudulent representation for the purpose or with the intention of causing the plaintiff to act upon 
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it.” Archdiocese of San Salvador v. FM Int’l, LLC, Civil No. 05–cv–237–JD, 2006 WL 2583262, 

at *9 (D.N.H. Sept. 7, 2006) (emphasis in original) (citations omitted); see also Blue v. Doral Fin. 

Corp., 123 F. Supp. 3d 236, 271 (D.P.R. 2015) (finding allegations deficient where they “group[ed] 

all of the Individual Defendants together generally without specifically referring to each one of 

them”). To plead conspiracy to commit fraud in the First Circuit, Plaintiffs must provide more than 

“mere allegations of fraud, corruption or conspiracy, averments to conditions of mind, or referrals 

to plans and schemes.” Hayduk, 775 F.2d at 444. Plaintiffs have failed on all counts. 

Plaintiffs’ consumer fraud allegations do not meet the Rule 9(b) standard with respect to 

Rio Tinto because the Complaint is completely devoid of any allegation that Rio Tinto played a 

particularized role in any fraudulent misrepresentations or participated in any conspiracy to 

fraudulently misrepresent. Furthermore, as a matter of law, statements by the NMA do not suffice 

to sustain liability against Rio Tinto. See Taylor v. Airco, Inc., 503 F. Supp. 2d 432, 446-47 (D. 

Mass. 2007) (membership and participation in trade group insufficient to make defendant 

responsible for trade group’s statements), aff’d sub nom. Taylor v. Am. Chemistry Council, 576 

F.3d 16 (1st Cir. 2009); In re Asbestos Sch. Litig., 46 F.3d 1284, 1290 (3d Cir. 1994) (“A member 

of a trade group or other similar organization does not necessarily endorse everything done by that 

organization or its members.”). Because Plaintiffs fail to “make specific and separate allegations” 

against Rio Tinto that clarify Rio Tinto’s purported role in the alleged fraudulent statements, 

Plaintiffs fail to plead their consumer fraud claim with the necessary Rule 9(b) particularity. See 

Archdiocese of San Salvador, 2006 WL 2583262 at *6.  

Plaintiffs’ conspiracy claim likewise fails because the Complaint provides nothing further 

than “mere allegations of fraud [and] conspiracy.” Hayduk, 775 F.2d at 444.  

Finally, Plaintiffs’ failure to warn claim similarly fails because, instead of demonstrating 
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absence of product warnings or instructions, it relies on the bare assertion that “Defendants 

fraudulently concealed their knowledge that climate change would accelerate” and “refuted . . . 

generally accepted scientific knowledge.” Compl. ¶ 790; Cruz-Vargas v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco 

Co., 348 F.3d 271, 276 (1st Cir. 2003) (failure to warn claims “must prove . . . there were no 

warnings or instructions, or those provided were inadequate”). Rio Tinto’s public statements about 

climate change stand in direct contrast to the alleged misrepresentations. Compare Compl. ¶ 444 

(“[Defendants] mapped out a multifaceted deception strategy for the fossil fuel industry . . . 

emphasizing ‘uncertainties’ in climate science.”) with King Decl. Ex. L (Form 6-K, EX-99.16, Oct. 

1, 2019) (“We have publicly acknowledged the reality of climate change for over two decades 

and . . . [i]n 2015, in support of the Paris Agreement, we committed to substantial long-term 

decarbonisation by 2050.”).  

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ allegations of consumer fraud (Count 1), conspiracy to commit 

consumer fraud (Count 2), and failure to warn (Count 10) fail and should be dismissed. 

II. PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED TO PLEAD ANY VIABLE CONSPIRACY-BASED CLAIMS 

AGAINST RIO TINTO (COUNTS 4, 5, 6, 7, AND 8) 

Plaintiffs’ fourth, fifth, sixth, and seventh causes of action allege that Defendants violated 

RICO, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962, 1964, and their eighth cause of action alleges a violation of the Sherman 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. These allegations fail to make the necessary connection between Rio Tinto and 

the conspiracy or “enterprise”—the GCC. In fact, the GCC serves as both enterprise and 

conspiracy in the Complaint—a conspiracy to commit a conspiracy, one could say. Fundamentally, 

if a defendant does not agree to further the goals of an alleged conspiracy, the conspiracy counts 

fail. Plaintiffs do not allege facts that directly or inferentially establish that Rio Tinto even knew 

of the GCC, let alone agreed to further its goals, instead lumping Rio Tinto together with other 

Defendants in an alleged conspiracy through group pleading. This is insufficient as a matter of law.  
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Unable to allege that Rio Tinto participated in wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs instead allege 

that Rio Tinto’s alleged membership in the NMA at some unspecified time establishes that Rio 

Tinto agreed to further the goals of the GCC. Compl. ¶¶ 184, 475; Racketeering Case Statement, 

para. 3(b)(iii). This, too, is insufficient as a matter of law to sustain a conspiracy-based claim. 

Neither membership nor participation in a trade association indicates that a member endorses the 

group’s statements. See NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co., 458 U.S. 886, 924 (1982) (“Regular 

attendance and participation at the [meetings] . . . is an insufficient predicate on which to impose 

liability [because the] . . . findings do not suggest that any illegal conduct was authorized, ratified, 

or even discussed at any of the meetings.”); In re Asbestos Sch. Litig., 46 F.3d 1284, 1290 (3d Cir. 

1994); accord Taylor v. Airco, Inc., 503 F. Supp. 2d 432, 446 (D. Mass. 2007) (membership and 

participation in a trade group insufficient to make defendant responsible for trade group’s 

statements understating risks of chemical), aff’d, 576 F.3d 16 (1st Cir. 2009). If this Court holds 

that such attenuated allegations establish plausible liability, that decision would extend liability in 

similar claims to every individual member of the GCC’s other organizational members, trade 

associations, and lobbying groups, among them, the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, U.S. Council 

for Energy Awareness, and U.S. Council for International Business. Compl. ¶¶ 184(g), 364. 

Because Plaintiffs fail to allege that Rio Tinto agreed to further the goals of any conspiracy or 

enterprise, Counts 4-8 fail. Furthermore, as noted in the Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss, 

Plaintiffs have failed broadly to plead their RICO claims as to Rio Tinto with the requisite Rule 

9(b) particularity. See Ahmed v. Rosenblatt, 118 F.3d 886, 889 (1st Cir. 1997) (holding that Rule 

9(b) applies to “RICO pleadings of mail and wire fraud”); Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss, 

p. 30. As a result, dismissal of Counts 4-8 is warranted.  
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A. Plaintiffs Fail to Plead a Substantive RICO Claim Against Rio Tinto Because 

They Fail to Allege Rio Tinto Conducted the Affairs of Any Enterprise 

To plead a civil RICO case under Section 1962(c), Plaintiffs must allege that Rio Tinto 

conducted the affairs of a RICO enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity and possessed 

the requisite mental state to commit the underlying predicate offense. See Norfe Grp. Corp. v. R.Y. 

Espinosa Inc., Civil No. CV 19-1897 (BJM), 2021 WL 5235119, at *3 (D.P.R. Nov. 9, 2021). 

Hence, Plaintiffs must allege that Rio Tinto played “some part in directing the enterprise’s affairs,” 

having “participated in the operation or management of the enterprise itself.” Reves v. Ernst & 

Young, 507 U.S. 170, 177-79, 183 (1993) (emphasis in original). To survive a motion to dismiss, 

Plaintiffs therefore must “plead sufficient facts to allow for a plausible inference that [Rio Tinto] 

somehow ‘le[d], [ran], manag[ed], or direct[ed]’ the enterprise’s affairs.” Friendly Hotel Boutique 

Corp. v. ME & A Cap., LLC, 2012 WL 4062795, at *2 (D.P.R. Sept. 14, 2012) (quoting Reves, 

507 U.S. at 177).  

Plaintiffs fail to allege what role Rio Tinto purportedly played in the “enterprise” or how 

Rio Tinto’s role differed from the roles played by the other Defendants and non-defendants. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations that Rio Tinto is a member of the NMA and a potential funding source of 

the GCC are insufficient to plead that Rio Tinto had any role in leading, running, managing, or 

directing the GCC as they do not go to control. See id. Ultimately, the Complaint fails to plead 

sufficient facts to allow a plausible inference that a nexus existed between Rio Tinto’s acts and the 

alleged enterprise. Consequently, the RICO claims should be dismissed.  

B. Plaintiffs Fail to Plead a RICO Conspiracy or Violation of the Sherman Act 

Against Rio Tinto Because They Do Not Allege that Rio Tinto Agreed to 

Further the Goals of Any Conspiracy 

To allege that Rio Tinto participated in a conspiracy to violate RICO, Plaintiffs must allege 

“(1) that two or more people agreed to commit a substantive RICO offense, and (2) that [Rio Tinto] 
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knew of and agreed to the overall objective of the RICO offense.” Chaney v. Dreyfus Serv. Corp., 

595 F.3d 219, 239 (5th Cir. 2010) (citations omitted); see also United States v. Millán-Machuca, 

991 F.3d 7, 18 (1st Cir. 2021) (quoting United States v. Leoner-Aguirre, 939 F.3d 310, 317 (1st 

Cir. 2019), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 820, 205 L. Ed. 2d 499 (2020)) (“[T]he government’s burden . . . 

is to prove that the defendant agreed that at least two acts of racketeering would be committed in 

furtherance of the conspiracy.”). At a minimum, Plaintiffs must put forth well-pleaded allegations 

showing that Rio Tinto knew of the alleged conspiracy and “adopt[ed] the goal of furthering or 

facilitating the criminal endeavor.” Chaney, 595 F.3d at 239 (citing Salinas v. United States, 522 

U.S. 52, 65 (1997)). Plaintiffs have failed to offer anything but conclusory allegations to show that 

Rio Tinto agreed to do anything with the other Defendants. See Compl. ¶¶ 24–633.  

To adequately allege that Rio Tinto violated the Sherman Act, Plaintiffs must allege that 

Rio Tinto was party to a conspiracy to restrain trade. Courts emphasize that to show agreement, 

Plaintiffs must provide “a factual showing that each defendant conspired in violation of the 

antitrust laws,” but courts also emphasize that “every action by a trade association is not concerted 

action by the association’s members.” AD/SAT, Div. of Skylight, Inc. v. Associated Press, 181 F.3d 

216, 234 (2d Cir. 1999); see also SmileDirectClub, LLC v. Tippins, 31 F.4th 1110, 1119 (9th Cir. 

2022) (“Ultimately, we require some showing—direct or circumstantial—that the defendants 

‘actively participated in an individual capacity in the scheme.’”). Plaintiffs fail to specify which 

Defendant allegedly committed each action, broadly relying on conclusory allegations of 

agreement, and neglecting to specifically mention Rio Tinto at all. As discussed infra p. 4, this 

type of group pleading is insufficient to show there was an agreement. See Twombly, 550 U.S. at 

557 (“[A] conclusory allegation of agreement at some unidentified point does not supply facts 

adequate to show illegality.”); see also E. Food Servs., Inc. v. Pontifical Catholic Univ. Servs. 
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Assn., 357 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 2004) (“[I]t is not enough merely to allege a violation in conclusory 

terms.”); Advanced Tech. Corp. v. Instron, Inc., 925 F. Supp. 2d 170, 179 (D. Mass. 2013) (The 

complaint contains “legal conclusions, including allegations that Defendants ‘conspired,’ ‘agreed,’ 

and ‘colluded’” which “are not entitled to an assumption of truth” and do not bring the complaint’s 

Sherman Act “conspiracy claim any closer to plausibility.”). 

Plaintiffs’ allegations regarding Rio Tinto’s involvement with the NMA are equally 

insufficient as a matter of law to constitute a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. It is well 

settled that neither membership nor participation in an industry association, alone, amounts to 

agreement for purposes of the Sherman Act. See Twombly, 550 U.S. at 567 n.12 (rejecting the 

argument that a conspiracy to restrain trade could be inferred from defendants’ membership in 

various trade associations); SmileDirectClub, 31 F.4th at 1119 (“[M]embership is not enough, 

standing alone, to allow a plausible inference that an organization’s members are engaged in an 

antitrust conspiracy”); Moore v. Boating Indus. Ass’ns, 819 F.2d 693, 712 (7th Cir. 1987) (“[M]ere 

membership in a trade association, attendance at trade association meetings and participation in 

trade association activities are not, in and of themselves, condemned or even discouraged by the 

antitrust laws.”) (citations omitted); Kendall v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., 518 F.3d 1042, 1048 (9th Cir. 

2008) (“Even participation on the association’s board of directors is not enough by itself” to sustain 

liability for antitrust violations committed by the association). Because Plaintiffs’ allegations 

against Rio Tinto go no further than Rio Tinto being a member of and active participant in the 

NMA, their Sherman Act claim (Count 8) also fails and should be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 

Rio Tinto respectfully requests that all claims against it be dismissed with prejudice. 

WHEREFORE, Defendant Rio Tinto respectfully requests this Honorable Court grant the 

Case 3:22-cv-01550-SCC   Document 198   Filed 10/13/23   Page 20 of 22



 

16  

instant motion and, consequently, dismiss Counts 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 10 of the Complaint 

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE: We hereby certify that on this same date the foregoing 

motion was filed with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send 

notification of such filing to all attorneys and participants of record. 

Respectfully submitted on October 13, 2023. 
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